Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Kevin Hoffman April 9, 2024

Facial and Vocal Biomarkers of Emotional Expressivity in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder

By

Kevin Hoffman

Negar Fani

Advisor

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Negar Fani

Advisor

James Rilling Committee Member

Keith Easterling

Committee Member

Anzar Abbas Committee Member 2024

Facial and Vocal Biomarkers of Emotional Expressivity in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder

By

Kevin Hoffman

Negar Fani

Advisor

An abstract of

a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences

of Emory University in partial fulfillment

of the requirements of the degree of

Bachelor of Science with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2024

Abstract

Facial and Vocal Biomarkers of Emotional Expressivity in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder.

By Kevin Hoffman

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is characterized by a range of symptoms, including those that reflect exaggerated fear-related responses and deficits in feeling positive emotion. However, machine learning-based approaches have not yet examined how this difference in emotional expressivity of PTSD manifests in the face, which may differ from self-reported measures of emotion in PTSD patients. Recently, computer vision, semantic, and acoustic analysis has been limited to differentiate between PTSD and depression. We correlated biomarkers of facial expressivity, emotional expressivity, and auditory expressivity with PTSD severity using the Clinician Administered PTSD Scale DSM-5 (CAPS-5). Fifty-nine adults (mean age = 24.58; 56 women) were recruited. The Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5 (CAPS) was administered prior to the start of a mindfulness intervention in which the participant's face and voice were recorded. The open-source Python library OpenWillis was used to analyze overall facial expressivity. Additionally, the degree of emotional expressivity of happiness, sadness, anger, fear, disgust, surprise, and neutral were quantified as proportions of total time during the CAPS-5. Auditory variables of pause duration, silence-to-speech ratio, and rate of speech were also collected. Bivariate Pearson's correlations were conducted to compare CAPS-5 data with expressivity variables as well as analyze moderating variables of gender. Overall facial expressivity was negatively correlated with increased PTSD re-experiencing symptoms, which might indicate higher reactivity. Fear expression was positively correlated with overall PTSD severity. The rate of speech was increased with higher re-experiencing symptoms while formant 1 variance was reduced in individuals with higher hyperarousal symptoms. These differences between specific emotions and PTSD symptom clusters validates our approach in assessing multiple emotional domains. Analysis of the expressivity of emotion types as well as how these connect to symptom change will allow us to gain a mechanistic understanding of how these emotions relate to symptomology and could potentially yield facial expression as a predictor of intervention success.

Facial and Vocal Biomarkers of Emotional Expressivity in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder

By

Kevin Hoffman

Negar Fani Ph.D.

Advisor

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences

of Emory University in partial fulfillment

of the requirements of the degree of

Bachelor of Science with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2024

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Negar Fani for all of her guidance throughout my thesis and my work in her lab. Her mentorship has helped me develop the MIND of a scientist and helped me strive to achieve work that previously daunted me. Her passion for her lab and its impact in the lives of the participants is inspiring. Whether it is the environment she builds or the inquisitive reflection she fosters, she is a wonderful mentor and team builder. I am deeply grateful for all of her encouragement and assistance throughout these years.

I would also like to thank Dr. Anzar Abbas for his assistance, troubleshooting, and positivity throughout this project. I thank Dr. James Rilling and Dr. Keith Easterling for their valuable perspectives and feedback. Additionally, I thank Aziz Elbasheir, Dr. Timothy McDermott, and Travis Fulton for their help with any passing questions and companionship.

I would like to thank Brenda Harmon for instilling in me the ability to see both the big picture and the tiny-scale details. I thank Dr. Austin Scharf for teaching me the thoroughness and thoughtfulness necessary in science. I also thank Dr. Jack Hardy for showing me how language can connect to society.

Lastly, I would like to thank the other members of my team. I especially thank Khaled Choucair, Maya Karkare, Amanda Miao, and Yashna Sadhu for their assistance in this project. I also would like to thank Alexa, Daniel, Kayla, Alex, Rachel, and Neha for their positivity.

Table of Contents

	I. Introduction	.1
А. РТ	'SD	.1
a.	Overview	.1
b.	PTSD Symptom Clusters PTSD	.1
c.	Neurophysiology-based Biomarkers of PTSD	.2
d.	Social Disruptions in PTSD	.3
e.	Current Treatments PTSD	.4
B. Em	otional Expressivity	.4
a.	Alexithymia and Emotional Regulation in PTSD	.4
b.	Emotional Expressivity Deficits in PTSD	.6
c.	Biomarkers of Emotional Expressivity for Prediction of Later PTSD or Treatment Response	.7
C. Em	otion Biomarkers for PTSD	.7
a.	Facial Action Coding System	.7
b.	Facial Expression and PTSD	.9
c.	Speech Characteristics in PTSD1	0
d.	Vocal Acoustics in PTSD1	1
e.	Formant Frequencies in PTSD1	2
D. Art Bioma	ificial Intelligence Innovations in Assessing Facial Expressivity and Vocal/Acoustic rkers of PTSD1	3
a.	Benefits of the Use of AI1	3
b.	Current Use of AI in Identifying Biomarkers of Psychopathy and Treatment Response	
	1	4
E. Pres	sent Study1	6
a.	Objective1	6
b.	Hypotheses1	6
	II. Materials and Methods1	7
A. Par	ticipants1	7
a.	Recruitment1	7
b.	Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria1	7
B. Clii	nical Assessment1	8

C. Video Data Processing	19
D. Measurement of Facial Expressivity	19
E. Measurement of Vocal Expressivity	20
F. Data Analyses	22
III. Results	23
A. Demographics	23
B. Facial and Vocal Expressivity Descriptive Statistics	24
a. Facial Expressivity	24
b. Vocal Expressivity	25
C. Associations between Facial Expressivity and PTSD Symptoms	26
D. Associations between Vocal Expressivity and PTSD Symptoms	31
F. Correlations between Facial and Vocal Biomarkers	36
IV. Discussion	37
A. Review of Study	37
B. Facial	38
C. Vocal	40
D. Correlations between Facial and Vocal Biomarkers	42
E. Limitations	43
F. Conclusions and Future Directions	44
V. Supplemental Tables	46
VI. Bibliography	49

I. Introduction

A. PTSD

a. Overview

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is a problem that may develop after exposure to traumatic events, which include assault, abuse, accidents, and other distressing experiences (Weathers, 2018). According to national estimates, PTSD affects around 12% of people in their lifetime (Kessler et al., 2005). However, these rates are higher in populations that have higher trauma exposure, and some studies show that the rates are also higher in women (Gluck et al., 2021). However, the exact symptoms experienced by someone diagnosed with PTSD are highly variable (Michopoulos et al., 2015).

b. PTSD Symptom Clusters

In the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, version 5, several clusters of PTSD symptoms have been identified, which are used for diagnosis and treatment planning. These categories include trauma-related avoidance, re-experiencing of trauma, negative cognition and mood (which includes symptoms that reflect deficits in the ability to experience positive mood—anhedonia), and hyperarousal (American Psychological Association, 2013). Avoidance reflects behaviors and feelings related to avoiding reminders of the traumatic events (Sheynin et al., 2017). These symptoms can manifest in a tendency to withdraw from or avoid adverse situations, namely those that remind them of the events. Re-experiencing symptoms occur when individuals have recurring, unwanted memories or thoughts of the stressful experience (Michael et al., 2005). One may recall sensory fragments such as pain, sensations, or visual images of the experiences sometimes due to triggers and sometimes seemingly out of

nowhere. PTSD-diagnosed individuals report increased negative feelings and difficulty regulating those negative emotions, which comprises the negative cognition and mood symptom cluster (DiMauro et al., 2016). This can manifest in increased negative affect and increased expectation of negative mood. For example, PTSD diagnosed civilians appear to have reduced inhibition of fear (Jovanovic et al., 2010). This higher expression of fear manifests itself in intrusive worry, social fear, and intense fear reactions (Norrholm et al., 2015). Anhedonia often entails low positive affect and disinterest in typically enjoyable activities (Kashdan et al., 2006). Additionally, PTSD populations often experience emotional numbing, detachment from other people, and reduced emotional expressiveness (Weiss et al., 2020). PTSD patients with anhedonia have a reduced feeling of reward, less joy and pleasure, and weaker drives (Elman et al., 2018). The hyperarousal symptoms of PTSD include increased irritability, hypervigilance, attention disruptions, insomnia, and exaggerated startle response, and may manifest as difficulty concentrating and impulsivity. Some individuals may be diagnosed with PTSD, yet experience one or more clusters more than the others (or may have PTSD symptoms in only some clusters, putting them below the diagnostic threshold) which justifies examining each cluster individually.

c. Neurophysiology-based Biomarkers of PTSD

There are a variety of neurophysiological manifestations and biomarkers of PTSD, which include endocrine system disruption, functional differences in certain brain regions, and sympathetic nervous system variables. For example, studies have found alterations in the serotonergic system in amygdala in patients experiencing avoidance symptoms (Michopoulos et al., 2015). Patients with PTSD have been found to have higher levels of vasopressin, which suggests a neurophysiological explanation for the symptoms of increased irritability

(Michopoulos et al., 2015). Other neuroendocrine alterations include different expressions of neuropeptide Y and reduced antagonism of the noradrenergic systems (Michopoulos et al., 2015). Neuroimaging of veterans with PTSD have found stronger neural activity in the bilateral amygdala, hippocampal, prefrontal, and sensorimotor regions of the brain (Badura-Brack et al., 2017). Functional neuroimaging has found similar regions with specificity such as the medial prefrontal cortex and the sublenticular extended amygdala (Liberzon & Martis, 2006). There are also several other physiological differences in individuals with PTSD. For example, PTSD diagnosed individuals see greater skin conductance reactivity when viewing distressing images (van 't Wout et al., 2017). Furthermore, assault survivors diagnosed with PTSD see different heart rate response compared to non-PTSD controls (Halligan et al., 2006). Additionally, it has been established that there are some deficiencies in facial mimicry in traumatized populations (Passardi et al., 2019).

d. Social Disruptions in PTSD

In addition to these neurophysiological biomarkers, there are a variety self-reported difficulties reported by individuals diagnosed with PTSD. Some work has related PTSD symptom severity with altered self-perception and perceived social desirability (Dyer et al., 2009). Indeed, PTSD-diagnosed individuals saw reduced self-reported self-compassion (Seligowski et al., 2015). Those with PTSD report greater difficult forming social attachments and maintaining social bonds (Bryant, 2016). In addition, PTSD has been associated with social isolation, which resolves as PTSD symptoms are resolved (Beidel et al., 2019). Furthermore, certain PTSD clusters such as the re-experiencing cluster are correlated with lower perceived physical health (Zoellner et al., 2000). However, it must be noted that overreporting of symptoms occurs in self-report PTSD evaluations, so it is important to have clinicians evaluate symptomology (Frueh et al., 2000).

e. PTSD Treatment

Populations with PTSD have been responsive to several kinds of treatments. First-line treatments for PTSD include prolonged exposure therapy and cognitive processing therapy, which involve repeated, controlled, prolonged exposure to trauma-related memories (McLean et al., 2022); given that they are designed to extinguish exaggerated fear responses in the context of trauma memories (Rauch et al., 2012), they are well-suited to target fear-related symptoms of PTSD and show good efficacy in this regard. However, these treatments often fail to fully resolve all PTSD symptoms in all patients involved, and many people drop out of these first-line treatments. Other non-fear-related manifestations of PTSD (e.g. shame/guilt, anhedonia) are less responsive to these treatments (Trachik et al., 2018). Other treatments have been proposed to target these problems, including oxytocin administration to address reward-related PTSD manifestations, as well as mind-body treatments, such as mindfulness-based therapies (Lang, 2017; Stauffer et al., 2019), which may address a range of problems, from anhedonia to hyperarousal. Given the variability in treatment response and dropout in PTSD treatments, it is useful to have objective, physiologically-based PTSD biomarkers that correlate with clinical manifestations of PTSD, and which may be used to predict treatment outcomes.

B. Emotional Expressivity

a. Alexithymia and Emotional Regulation in PTSD

Many people with PTSD experience difficulties with emotional identification and regulation. PTSD has been strongly associated with alexithymia, which refers to difficulty recognizing and describing one's emotions and feelings (Zlotnick et al., 2001). This often is experienced as a deficit in emotional experience and expression (Frewen et al., 2008). Alexithymia has been associated with specific PTSD symptom clusters such as re-experiencing and hyperarousal. These symptoms sometimes are experienced as a sense of numbness or reduction in affect (Frewen et al., 2006). Thus, the emotional experience of individuals with PTSD may be altered. Increased PTSD-related alexithymia has been associated with increased prefrontal cortex activity, suggesting a mechanism (Frewen et al., 2008). PTSD symptom severity has also been associated with difficulty in regulating negative emotions (Shepherd & Wild, 2014). Indeed, PTSD-diagnosed individuals report requiring greater attention and effort in order to modulate their emotions (Tull et al., 2020). Furthermore, some individuals with PTSD find it difficult to interpret and verbally describe how they feel (Passardi et al., 2019). These symptoms ultimately lead to a disruption in emotion processing (Messman et al., 2023). Thus, there are deficits in emotional regulation that are associated with PTSD. These deficits in emotional regulation are also associated with specific symptom clusters (Ehring & Quack, 2010). Some PTSD-diagnosed individuals face greater difficulty navigating tasks while under emotional distress (Pugach et al., 2020). This also may lead to difficulty in impulse control and nonacceptance of negative emotions. With these difficulties, some work suggests that PTSD is associated with maladaptive emotional regulation strategies (Tull et al., 2020). Since PTSD has been associated with difficulty identifying and describing emotions, it is important to include other, namely physiological, measures of emotional expressivity rather than relying solely on self-perception. Namely, self-report measures and even clinician administered measures that rely

on patients accurately describing their experiences and symptoms may be difficult due to the alexithymia and emotional regulation deficits associated with PTSD.

b. Emotional Expressivity in PTSD

PTSD has been associated with abnormal emotional expressivity. For example, students with trauma exposure and PTSD diagnosis were found to report greater difficulty in emotionally expressing themselves and feel greater interpersonal sensitivity (Slanbekova et al., 2019). College aged adults with more severe PTSD symptoms reported greater difficulty with emotional expression (and emotion acceptance) (O'Bryan et al., 2015). However, the directionality of this relationship is unclear-whether PTSD symptoms preceded these difficulties in expressivity or vice versa. For example, individuals having recently experienced a traumatic event and held pessimistic outlooks on their own emotional expression were more likely to be diagnosed with PTSD 6 weeks after the event compared to those with a less negative attitude on their emotional expression (Nightingale & Williams, 2000). In another study, fear of emotional expression was the largest predictor of PTSD diagnosis (as compared to other social and demographic variables) in a sample of firefighters (Farnsworth & Sewell, 2011). In a review on emotional numbing in PTSD, researchers concluded that individuals with PTSD are still capable of the same range of emotions they had prior to the traumatic event (Litz et al., 2002). However, individuals experiencing PTSD may need stronger emotional stimuli to express the same level of emotionality. Alterations in emotional expressivity may be a part of the trauma response. For example, women with PTSD reported higher difficulty expressing positivity due to interruptions caused by difficulty describing, identifying, and modulating emotions, namely if they also reported higher childhood physical or emotional neglect (Frewen et al., 2012). Difficulties in

emotion accounted for significant variance in aggression symptoms in men exposed to interpersonal violence (Tull et al., 2007). Thus, it is important to investigate abnormalities in emotional expressivity as a potential trauma-related response that could influence the expression of PTSD symptoms. Namely, these self-perceived differences may manifest themselves in the facial expressions and in other means of emotional expression of individuals with PTSD, necessitating analysis of biomarkers.

c. Biomarkers of Emotional Expressivity for Prediction of Later PTSD or Treatment Response

Abnormalities in emotional expressivity in populations with PTSD may lead to impairment in some social interactions. Some individuals with PTSD seem to have difficulty navigating emotions during social activities (Williams et al., 2018). Adding further, this altered emotional expressivity and shift in affect can affect treatment outcomes. It seems that less emotionallyexpressive individuals are less responsive to therapy treatments (Littrell, 2009). Indeed, some biomarkers can assist in elucidating whether an individual will have a significant positive outcome from treatment or not (Colvonen et al., 2017). Since some treatments require emotional engagement, the difficulty emotionally engaging with others may affect treatment outcome. Furthermore, by examining these emotional biomarkers as predictors, we may improve on assigning interventions and dedicating resources to patients who would most benefit from certain types of treatments.

Some emotion-related facial features have begun to be examined as predictors of PTSD diagnosis (Schultebraucks et al., 2022). In that study, patients who experienced a psychological trauma and went to a level-1 trauma emergency room received a clinical interview 1 month after

admission to the ED. During these interviews, the patients were evaluated for provisional PTSD diagnosis and their speech and facial expressions were recorded while they answered a set of 5 questions regarding their trauma; these recordings were analyzed using a deep learning artificial intelligence algorithm. The researchers found that greater fear and anger expressivity, reduced pitch variance, and reduced audio intensity significantly predicted PTSD diagnosis. The authors found that these findings specific to PTSD differed from those in depression, and persisted when controlled for other comorbid mental health conditions reported in their sample. Thus, there are abnormalities associated with PTSD in several emotion-related features of facial and vocal expression. Indeed, biomarkers of emotional expressivity have begun to be examined in PTSD populations.

C. Emotion Biomarkers for PTSD

a. Facial Action Coding System

One common system used to examine facial expressivity is the Facial Action Coding System (FACS), which provides a systematic method for visually determining emotions and facial movements (Pfeffer, 2023). This method involves manual rating, frame by frame, of video recordings of participant faces. Using this system, researchers have been able to predict the longterm outcomes of trauma exposure. The FACS system has been useful for detecting the present emotional state and stress levels of participants (Gavrilescu & Vizireanu, 2019). This system has also been used to find associations between individual emotions and self-reported PTSD symptoms (Bujarski et al., 2015). They examined the different emotional facial expressions of motor vehicle accident survivors, finding results that differed from self-reported emotional expression. Thus, it is important to use an objective measure of facial emotional expression, especially due to the importance of emotional expression for social relationships. The FACS system is one tool with which facial expressions have been examined for some time, and has been employed in PTSD populations.

b. Facial Expression and PTSD

Some studies have examined the facial emotional expressions of those diagnosed with PTSD. In one study, during psychodiagnostic interviews with PTSD-diagnosed and non-PTSD individuals, participants' facial expressions were recorded and analyzed with FACS (Kirsch & Brunnhuber, 2007). The authors found less happiness and more anger expression in participants with PTSD as compared to healthy controls. Furthermore, they found that participants' facial expressivity was different during face-to-face interactions versus remote screening. One study presented PTSD and trauma-exposed non-PTSD patients with startling stimuli while recording their faces (Blechert et al., 2013). This found greater negative emotional expressions on their face, namely due to increased anger expression in those diagnosed with PTSD. In another pilot study, children who were survivors of the Great East Japan Earthquake had their emotional expressions filmed while watching images of natural scenes for two minutes before viewing 2 minutes of a comedy video (Fujiwara et al., 2015). They employed a digital form of the FACS to examine their facial expressions, and found that higher PTSD symptoms were correlated with higher neutral facial expressions. This finding suggests that individuals with greater severity of PTSD are less emotionally reactive. Similar work was performed with adult women diagnosed with PTSD or non-PTSD while showing them emotionally charged clips of contentment, amusement, sadness, fear, and anger in that order (Orsillo et al., 2004). Their facial expressions were recorded among self-report measures of emotion, which found increased negative

emotional expression via self-report but not in the face. However, other work does establish some difference in facial expression of emotion and self-report of emotion in PTSD populations (Wagner et al., 2003). When listening to audio recordings produced based on details of participant trauma experiences, those in the PTSD group reported feeling negative emotions more strongly, yet had lower negative facial emotional expression as compared to an agematched non-PTSD control listening to the same audio. Consequently, there are distinct differences between self-report and emotional expression unique to PTSD. This makes it necessary to evaluate the physiological manifestation of emotion in the face aside from selfreport. Additionally, these prior studies help establish facial expressivity of emotion as a useful biomarker of emotional expressivity in PTSD. However, the FACS system presents some difficulties due to the long time necessary for training a rater as well as the expanse of time required to manually rate every frame. Thus, most prior studies have only examined short sections of interviews for a few minutes a participant. This time burden also makes it difficult for studies to include larger sample sizes, especially since it is typically required that the same rater scores the entire sample.

c. Speech Characteristics in PTSD

There are other measures of emotional expression that have been associated with PTSD symptoms and severity, including speech patterns and other linguistic features of speech. In civilian women recounting their trauma, rate of speech was negatively related to some PTSD symptoms, namely avoidance (Fernandez-Lansac & Crespo, 2015). This finding was replicated in a study of veterans; the authors found that slower speech while discussing their PTSD-related

symptoms in the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale (CAPS) was associated with PTSD diagnosis (Marmar et al., 2019). This suggests that individuals with PTSD speak slower during clinical interviews, although the mechanism behind this change in speech pattern has not been investigated regarding PTSD. Other speech characteristics such as pause rate and pause duration have been explored and found to be greater in individuals with greater PTSD symptoms (DeVault et al., 2013; Southee, 2020). Studies using machine learning applying large amounts of data from corpora (collections of spoken or written language in context) have found increased rate of pauses in individuals diagnosed with PTSD during clinical encounters with physicians (Banerjee, 2017). Thus, PTSD appears to be related to pausing behavior, which may be for a variety of reasons such as stopping to reflect or due to interruptions from re-experiencing symptoms. Meanwhile, another study showed that people with PTSD express words with greater neutral and negative sentiment (Sawalha et al., 2022). The PTSD group in the study used negative and neutral words more frequently than the healthy controls. One study examined specifically the frequency of words used (key word analysis) in self-narratives, which identified unique token patterns of individuals diagnosed with PTSD compared to non-PTSD individuals (He et al., 2012). Thus, there are several characteristics of speech that are associated with PTSD symptoms. Evaluation of biomarkers of speech characteristics may yield objective physiological biomarkers of PTSD similar to facial expressivity biomarkers.

d. Vocal Acoustics in PTSD

In addition, vocal acoustic variables may be useful to examine as biomarkers of PTSD symptom severity or treatment response. The fundamental frequency (F0) is the lowest frequency from speech and has been used as a biomarker for mental health conditions (Mundt et al., 2012).

F0 relates to highness or lowness of the voice, serving as a measure of pitch. Vocal prosody, including F0, is closely connected to the emotional expressivity of individuals (Busso et al., 2009). This study used a corpus produced by asking participants to read sentences with a certain emotion, finding unique F0 patterns based on emotion. It is suggested that the fundamental frequency is a means by which individuals add emotion to spoken words. Furthermore, certain features of pitch measured by F0 relates to specific emotions, with negative emotions (except anger) associated with reduced F0 frequency. Indeed, F0 has been used as a biomarker in linguistics for emotional state, including emotional stress (Probst & Braun, 2019; Protopapas & Lieberman, 1997). Furthermore, the variation of F0 can be considered a measure of monotony, with less variance in more monotonous voices, which connects itself to reduced or negative emotional expressivity (Probst & Braun, 2019). Speech analysis has found reduced F0 and less F0 variation in PTSD-diagnosed adults compared to non-PTSD adults (Marmar et al., 2019). Additionally, automated analysis of recordings found that there was a smaller standard of deviation in PTSD group compared to non-PTSD group (Xu et al., 2012). F0 and its variation has been negatively associated with not just the emotional state of trauma recall, in children, but also the amount of trauma and PTSD symptoms (Monti et al., 2021). Indeed, prosodic analysis of speech found lower F0 in the PTSD population (Ettore et al., 2023). Thus, F0 is a valuable biomarker of emotional expressivity that may have unique features in PTSD populations.

e. Formant Frequencies

Additional emotional expressivity-related vocal acoustic biomarkers are formant frequency and variation. The formants are the resonant frequencies of speech (Bozkurt et al., 2011). The first two formants, formant 1 and formant 2, mark frequencies that, when used together, produce vowels, and are very useful for analysis (Erickson et al., 2008). The formant frequencies and their variation relate primarily to tone and connect to emotionality in speech (Rebordao et al., 2009). The first two formants have been used for assisting in the identification of several emotions such as in linguistic work aiming to identify the vocal acoustic patterns of specific emotions (Khulage, 2012). Indeed, including the formants in analysis has helped produce more accurate classification of emotions (Kim & Clements, 2015). Reduced formants have been associated with sadness and significant variation of the formants is associated with happier, more expressive speech (Erickson et al., 2008). The formant frequencies have been found in individuals diagnosed with PTSD (Scherer et al., 2015). Lower formant 1 and formant 2 means and variance were found in PTSD populations (Ettore et al., 2023). Thus, PTSD may be associated with more monotonous, less emotionally expressive speech, measured by formant frequency and variation.

- D. Artificial Intelligence (AI) Innovations in Assessing Facial Expressivity and Vocal/acoustic Biomarkers of PTSD
- a. Benefits of the use of AI

New innovations in AI can help us measure emotional expressivity and thereby guide treatment direction. In the context of coding videos to analyze facial and vocal biomarkers of PTSD, AI presents a significant advantage over manual coding in terms of efficiency, reducing hundreds of hours of manual coding work (Peham et al., 2015). This permits the analysis of longer recordings, providing richer data. The FACS system requires 100 hours of training and that the same rater analyzes the entire sample in order to maintain consistency between subjects. However, this means FACS is cumbersome, restricting the sample size and length of behavior to analyze while also allowing variability between studies since the raters are different and prone to human error. AI thus presents a method with which any researcher can more easily use while maintaining consistency between studies. Some prior research has been completed using AI to assay facial expressivity. For example, facial and auditory data have been examined by machinelearning tools to pinpoint specific markers of schizophrenia (Abbas et al., 2022). Other AI have been used to examine aspects of written or spoken language (D'Alfonso, 2020). OpenWillis is an open-source Python library utilizing a variety of machine learning tools for digital phenotyping. This allows analysis of facial expressions, speech characteristics, and vocal acoustics among other relevant video and audio variables through one library freely accessible to any researcher or clinician. Thus, this tool can be utilized in a consistent manner across a variety of studies and populations in order to objectively analyze and compare the emotion-related biomarkers of samples.

b. Current use of AI in identifying Biomarkers of Psychopathy and Treatment Response

The use of AI presents itself as an expanding opportunity to more thoroughly analyze biomarkers of emotional expressivity in mental health contexts. Open-source deep learning has found some associations between suicidality and variables of facial and auditory expression (Galatzer-Levy et al., 2021). In depression, manual rating has been seen as insufficient due to the variability between some participants, whereas applying deep-learning AI has enabled better screening than humans (Wani et al., 2023). Ultimately, AI also presents an easier to replicate method than manual rating since it is consistent between individuals, providing a more objective method of classification or rating (Luxton, 2015). Thus, AI presents many advantages for researchers wishing to examine biomarkers including those related to emotional expressivity. PTSD specifically has seen some examination using AI, albeit limited. Some markers of arousal and mood from video and audio data have been used to differentiate between PTSD and depression, although with limited accuracy (Schultebraucks et al., 2022). Additionally, machinelearning algorithms have been used to predict PTSD diagnosis before (Othmani et al., 2023). In a review on current literature examining the use of digital biomarkers of PTSD, they identified only 6 studies examining facial or vocal biomarkers as predictors of PTSD (Wu et al., 2023). Out of these studies in the review, 5 solely examined speech characteristics while Schultebraucks et al. examined both speech and facial expressions. Namely, the studies utilized speech characteristics such as rate of speech and pauses, sentiment analysis of the valence of word choice, acoustic factors such as F0 and the formants, and other semantic variables to train either classifiers or machine-learning algorithms to predict PTSD. These trained algorithms were then used on a novel sample of patients to predict their PTSD diagnosis, finding that they can predict PTSD diagnosis from 74.99% to 97.5% depending on the algorithm and sample. This suggests that emotion biomarkers found in facial and vocal expression may be altered from PTSD. Thus, emotional expressivity may be related to PTSD symptom development, making it a useful target for assessment and intervention. However, as of now, these studies have only focused on prediction of PTSD diagnosis. No studies as of yet have employed AI to evaluate facial and vocal biomarkers across PTSD symptom severity. With deficits in describing emotions and differential emotional expressivity, it is important to examine the biomarkers of facial and vocal emotional expressivity in PTSD populations.

E. Present Study

a. Objective

The goal of this study was to use open-source deep learning tools provided in OpenWillis to examine markers of facial emotion expressivity and vocal expressivity in a diverse sample of individuals with variable PTSD symptoms enrolled in a PTSD clinical trial. Specifically, I analyzed videotaped footage of these participants as they received a gold-standard clinician-administered assessment of PTSD, the Clinician Administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5, or CAPS-5, (Weathers et al., 2018), prior to engaging in the intervention (meditative practices). I examined whether markers of facial and vocal expressivity significantly correlated with PTSD symptoms, including avoidance, re-experiencing, negative alterations in cognition and mood, and hyperarousal.

b. Hypotheses

H1a) Markers of negative emotional expressivity including reduced overall facial movement, fear expressions, anger expressions, reduced formant variance, reduced F0 frequency, and increased negative sentiment in word use will be positively correlated with overall PTSD symptom severity and H1b) particularly fear-related symptom clusters, specifically re-experiencing and hyperarousal symptoms.

H2) Markers of positive emotional expressivity including happiness expression, increased formant variance, higher F0 frequency, and increased positive sentiment in word use will be negatively correlated with overall PTSD symptom severity.

Secondarily, I conducted exploratory analyses to examine associations between facial and vocal biomarkers.

II. Materials and Methods

A. Participants

a. Recruitment

Adults between 18-65 years old (mean = 24.6, SD = 7.2) were primarily recruited through the Grady Trauma Project (GTP), an ongoing, long-standing collective of trauma and PTSD studies in inner-city Atlanta, Georgia. Participants were approached at random in the waiting rooms of Grady Memorial Hospital medical clinics; recruitment also occurred via flyers distributed in the community, and self-referrals through the GTP website. Interested individuals underwent informed consent procedures with study staff and were evaluated for eligibility criteria for a meditation clinical trial in a preliminary screening interview conducted remotely.

b. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Those who endorsed a significant traumatic event on the Life Events Checklist (Weathers et al., 2013) and scored 7 or higher on the depersonalization subscale of the Multiscale Dissociation Inventory (MDI) (Briere, 2005) and who were MRI eligible were recruited. Additional inclusion criteria were: Ability to provide informed consent and willingness to participate in study. Exclusion criteria were: moderate to severe cognitive impairment, primary psychotic or bipolar disorder with psychosis, acute suicidal ideation, experienced an episode of loss of consciousness for more than 5 minutes, experienced a head injury that resulted in symptoms lasting more than 2 weeks, severe marijuana or alcohol use disorder based on the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI), physical or psychological issues that would prevent them from completing the scan/training days, or the North American Adult Reading Test (NAART) score less than 7.

Ninety participants were screened and deemed eligible for the trial. Among these 90 participants, 31 declined to be recorded or their recordings were either lost or unusable due to recording quality. Of these 59 participants, 9 had their videos, but not audio files, excluded due to poor quality of recording such as their face being only partially visible, leaving 50 individuals with videos of sufficient quality to analyze.

B. Clinical Assessment

Diagnostic Assessment (DA) interviews were performed before and after study intervention visits (the initial DA was analyzed for the present study). The DAs were performed by study staff under the supervision of licensed psychologists. The DAs consist of a series of questionnaires including the Clinician Administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5 (CAPS), which was used to assess the presence and severity of PTSD and its symptom clusters. The CAPS is considered a gold standard assessment for PTSD and is a widely used format of trauma related symptoms of PTSD. The DA interviews also included the MINI 7.0. These DAs were recorded using Zoom by the interviewer during which video and audio data were obtained at the permission of the participant.

C. Video Data Processing

Video and audio data from the DA recordings were used to obtain facial expressivity, emotional expressivity, and vocal expressivity variables. The mp4 files of video data were analyzed. We constricted the analysis to the CAPS portion of the interview. This results in videos ranging from 20 minutes to 1.5 hours depending on the length of discussion and symptoms endorsed. Periods of time in which breaks were taken were manually cut out to ensure only times when the participant's face was visible were processed. The audio was extracted from these files to produce .wav files for audio data. Additionally, 9 of the 59 participants either declined to have their faces recorded or their face was only partially visible, so only their audio was analyzed.

D. Measurement of Facial Expressivity

Data were processed on the Emory Center for Systems Imaging (CSIC) computer cluster. To process video and audio data, we employed OpenWillis, an open-source python library for digital health measurements from Brooklyn Health. A series of machine-learning functions from the library were employed for facial expressivity and vocal expressivity markers. The Facial Expressivity function utilized a facemesh model within mediapipe, a machine-learning tool, to determine 468 facial landmarks, the Euclidean distance between landmarks, and examine the landmarks' 3-dimensional displacement framewise (Thaman et al., 2022). All measurements were normalized to a baseline produced from the first 10 seconds of the CAPS questionnaire during which the participant is listening to an introductory phrase. This normalization corrects for inter- and intraindividual variability and is standard for computer-based analysis of facial expressivity (Abbas et al., 2022). The algorithm is trained to detect the landmarks of the face to establish coordinate points across the entire face as well as determine the distance between the points in relative cm. The displacement of these points frame by frame is computed to generate framewise values of displacement. These measurements are then averaged together in order to compute a mean displacement over the entire course of the source video. The Emotional Expressivity function employed Deepface, a facial attribute analysis AI that quantifies the intensity and attribute of emotions as expressed in the face including happiness, sadness, anger, fear, disgust, surprise, and neutral (Taigman et al., 2014). These emotional expression intensity values are computed by evaluating the facial landmark patterns to produce a % prediction of landmark patterns that match each given emotion. The prediction is based on training across millions of facial expressions from over 4000 individuals. To limit Type I error, we limited the emotions under investigation in this study, selecting those identified in prior PTSD studies: happiness, anger, fear, and neutral expressions. The same baseline was used for emotional expressivity. The framewise values were compiled, producing the mean intensity scores across the entire video for each emotion.

E. Measurement of vocal expressivity

Since the interviews consisted of both the participant and the interviewer, it was crucial to separate between the two when examining the audio data. The OpenWillis speech transcription function was utilized to transform speech into text using a pre-trained model. This resulted in a

json file utilized by the speaker separation function of OpenWillis using Pyannote to identify rater prompts. It used the rater prompts to assist in identifying and separating the two speakers. The output was two audio .way files of the rater and participant separated. These files were manually checked by running the speech transcription function on the two audio files to confirm which was the participant. Finally, the participant audio file was examined using the speech transcription function to produce all words uttered by the participant. The speech characteristics function was then employed to quantify different characteristics of speech including pause duration, pause count, silence-to-speech ratio, and rate of speech. The Natural Language Toolkit (NLTK) library was used by the function to assign labels to the words to identify the rate of verb, noun, adjective, and pronoun use. The function also employed the vaderSentiment library to examine the emotional valence of the speech and the LexicalRichness library to evaluate lexical diversity. The vaderSentiment library has manually scored the words and phrases of English to assign a positive or negative numerical value to reflect the sentiment of the word or phrase. This is normalized so that -1 is the highest negative sentiment and 1 is the highest positive sentiment. This produced positive, negative, and neutral sentiment values by word which, when averaged across the entire file, reflected the average emotional valence of the words used by the participant over the course of the video. Vocal acoustics characteristics were also analyzed in the speech of participants using the vocal acoustics function. This employed Parselmouth, which is a Python library for Praat software, to analyze the framewise acoustic properties of speech. The framewise properties were compiled to form a mean over the duration of the entire video to produce acoustic variables, namely those of the frequencies in Hertz (Hz) produced in spoken language. We focused on F0 and the first two formants due to their value in prior literature and to avoid any spurious conclusions. All output files from OpenWillis were converted into .csv

files remotely saved in CSIC, which were then downloaded from CSIC and compiled using Excel PowerQuery.

F. Data Analyses

Using SPSS v 29.0, distributions of variables were examined for violations of normality; deviations from normality were identified with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Where deviations were observed (p<.05), data were natural log transformed. Next, bivariate correlations were performed to examine significant associations between facial expressivity variables, including mean overall facial expressivity (regardless of emotional valence), happiness, anger, fear, and neutral with PTSD symptoms (CAPS total score and CAPS re-experiencing, avoidance, negative mood and cognition, hyperarousal symptom clusters). Bivariate correlations were also conducted with vocal expressivity variables, including rate of speech, pause rate, pause duration, vocal sentiment, F0, and formants 1 and 2 and the same PTSD symptoms and symptom clusters. For each family of tests, statistical significance was set at p<.05 adjusted with Bonferroni correction (p<05/4=.0125) to adjust for Type I error due to multiple comparisons.

H1) Bivariate correlations of negative valence biomarkers with CAPS-5 total and subscale score at pre-intervention (Pearson's r) using SPSS; statistical significance was set at p<.05 adjusted with Bonferroni correction (p<.05/4 tests).

H2) Bivariate correlations of positive valence biomarkers with CAPS-5 score at pre-intervention (Pearson's r) using SPSS; statistical significance will be set at p<.05 adjusted with Bonferroni correction (p<.05/4 tests).

Exploratory H3) Bivariate correlations of biomarkers (Pearson's r) at pre-intervention using SPSS; statistical significance will be set at p<.05 adjusted with Bonferroni correction.]

III. Results

A. Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Table 1 describes clinical and demographic characteristics of this sample.

Age (Mean, SD, 24.6 (7.2) 18-47 Range)			
Range)	Age (Mean, SD,	24.6 (7.2)	18-47
n %	Range)		
n %			
		n	%
Gender	Gender		
Female 46 78	Female	46	78
Male 13 22	Male	13	22
Race	Race		
White 22 37	White	22	37
Black 28 47	Black	28	47
Asian 2 3	Asian	2	3
Mixed/Other 4 7	Mixed/Other	4	7
Marital status	Marital status		
Single 42 71	Single	42	71
Married/partnered 9 15	Married/partnered	9	15
Divorced/widowed 4 7	Divorced/widowed	4	7
Other 4 7	Other	4	7
Number of Children ^a 2 3	Number of Children ^a	2	3
Highest educational	Highest educational		
level	level		
High school 8 14	High school	8	14

Some Conege	51	55
University degree	10	17
Graduate degree	7	12
Monthly Household		
Income		
\$0-\$250	6	10
\$250-\$499	5	8
\$500-\$999	6	10
\$1000-\$1999	14	24
\$2000 or more	25	42
Employment		
Employed full-time	13	22
Employed part-time	15	25
Student	21	36
Unemployed	4	7
Retired or Disability	1	2
Previous psychological	19	32
treatment ^a		
Using psychotropic	13	22
medication ^a		
	Mean	SD
PTSD Total (CAPS	Mean 25.98	SD 12.05
PTSD Total (CAPS Total)	Mean 25.98	SD 12.05
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing	Mean 25.98 5.36	SD 12.05 3.88
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B)	Mean 25.98 5.36	SD 12.05 3.88
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C)	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C) PTSD negative	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81 10.7	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99 5.8
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C) PTSD negative cognition and mood	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81 10.7	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99 5.8
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C) PTSD negative cognition and mood (CAPS D)	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81 10.7	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99 5.8
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C) PTSD negative cognition and mood (CAPS D) PTSD hyperarousal	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81 10.7 7.09	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99 5.8 3.57
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C) PTSD negative cognition and mood (CAPS D) PTSD hyperarousal (CAPS E)	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81 10.7 7.09	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99 5.8 3.57
PTSD Total (CAPS Total) PTSD re-experiencing (CAPS B) PTSD avoidance (CAPS C) PTSD negative cognition and mood (CAPS D) PTSD hyperarousal (CAPS E) LEC Experienced	Mean 25.98 5.36 2.81 10.7 7.09 3.46	SD 12.05 3.88 1.99 5.8 3.57 2.01

Table 1: Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of participants. N = 59. ^a Reflects the

number and percentage of participants answering "yes" to this question.

B. Descriptive Statistics

a. Facial expressivity

The mean overall change in facial expressivity for this sample = 0.0008, which represents the average displacement from baseline in the Euclidean coordinate face mesh (SD = +/- 0.001, range = -0.002–0.004). The measures of emotion expressivity were found to be significant per the Shapiro-Wilk test, justifying a log transformation of the data to establish normality. In the overall sample (non-log transformed), the most frequent emotion expressed was fear with a sample mean = .0380 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting fear (SD = +/- 0.86, range = -2.20–2.10). The mean anger expressivity for this sample = 0.025 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting anger (SD = +/- 0.072, range = -0.150–0.200). The mean happiness expressivity = 0.008 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting happiness (SD = +/- 0.092, range = -0.260–0.380). The mean neutral expressivity = 0.009 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting happiness (SD = +/- 0.092, range = -0.260–0.380). The mean neutral expressivity = 0.009 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting happiness (SD = +/- 0.092, range = -0.260–0.380). The mean neutral expressivity = 0.009 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting happiness (SD = +/- 0.092, range = -0.260–0.380). The mean neutral expressivity = 0.009 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting happiness (SD = +/- 0.092, range = -0.260–0.380). The mean neutral expressivity = 0.009 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting happiness (SD = +/- 0.092, range = -0.260–0.380). The mean neutral expressivity = 0.020 higher from baseline of the proportion of facial landmarks predicting (SD = +/- 0.138, range = -0.230–0.190). One major outlier was found consistently near -1.000 proportion change from baseline for all emotion categories; data for this participant was excluded from further analyses (3 stand

b. Vocal expressivity

We found that neutral sentiment was predominant in the overall sample lexicon with a sample mean = 0.706 normalized, weighted sentiment score designated as neutral (SD = +/- 0.056, range = 0.555–0.848). Positive sentiment had a mean = 0.206 normalized, weighted sentiment score designated as neutral (SD +/- 0.055, range = 0.115–0.362). Negative sentiment, however, was infrequent with mean = 0.0879 normalized, weighted sentiment score designated as negative (SD = +/- 0.022, range = 0.025–0.157). The mean rate of speech = 171.4 words per minute (SD = +/- 29.7, range = 84.1–229.9). The average duration of pauses = 0.076 seconds

(SD = +/- 0.035, range = 0.023-0.187). The mean percentage of silence during participant speech = 0.320 proportion of time while silent (SD = +/- 0.250, range = 0.095-1.399). The mean F0 frequency = 100.53 Hz (SD = +/- 24.22, range = 41.72-140.66). The mean F0 variation = 9762 Hz. The average Formant 1 frequency = 648.04 Hz (SD = +/- 51.66, range = 515.17-759.3) and Formant 2 frequency = 1809.29 Hz (SD = +/- 85.89, range = 1577.36-1945-.44). The Formant 1 variance = 129983 and Formant 2 variance = 260679.

C. Associations between facial expressivity and PTSD symptoms.

Pearson correlations were conducted between individual CAPS clusters and variables of facial and emotional expressivity; correlations provided in supplementary table 1.

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed a significant negative association between overall facial expressivity and PTSD re-experiencing symptoms (r = -0.335, p = 0.028) (Figure 1); no other significant associations were observed with facial expressivity and PTSD symptom clusters (p>.05).



Figure 1: Associations between overall facial expressivity and re-experiencing symptoms. CAPS re-experiencing symptoms were negatively correlated with overall facial expressivity. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 48, r = -0.34, p = 0.028.

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed positive associations between fear expression and overall PTSD symptom severity, although these associations did not meet our Bonferroni-corrected threshold (r = 0.32, p = 0.038); other similar correlations were observed for fear expression and PTSD avoidance (r = 0.35, p = 0.023), and negative alterations in cognition and mood (r = 0.33, p = 0.035), and (Figures 2, 3, & 4).


Figure 2: Associations between fear expression and PTSD symptom severity. Overall PTSD symptom severity (CAPS total score) showed a (non-statistically significant) positive association with fear expression (natural log transformed). Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 48, r = 0.32, p = 0.038.



Figure 3: Associations between fear expression and PTSD avoidance symptoms. PTSD avoidance symptoms (CAPS C) showed a (non-statistically significant positive association with fear expression (natural log transformed). Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 48, r = 0.35, p = 0.023.



Figure 4: Associations between fear expression and PTSD negative cognition and mood severity. PTSD negative cognition and mood symptoms (CAPS D) showed a (non-statistically significant) positive association with fear expression (natural log transformed). Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 48, r = 0.33, p = 0.035.

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed statistically non-significant negative associations between neutral expression and overall PTSD symptom severity (r = -0.29, p = 0.062), negative alteration in cognition and mood (r = -0.29, p = .065), alteration in arousal and reactivity (r = -.40, p = 0.066), and distress or impairment (r = -0.27, p = .082) (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Associations between neutral expression and overall PTSD symptom severity. Overall PTSD symptom severity (CAPS total score) showed (non-statistically significant) negative association with neutral expression (natural log transformed). Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 48, r = -0.29, p = 0.062.

D. Vocal Expressivity

Pearson correlations were conducted between PTSD symptom clusters and variables of vocal expressivity. All correlations conducted can be found in the correlation table (supplementary table 1).

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed positive associations between positive sentiment and both overall PTSD symptom severity (r = 0.27, p = 0.049) and re-experiencing (r = 0.31, p = 0.027); although these associations did not meet our Bonferroni corrected threshold (Figures 6 and 7).



Figure 6: Associations between positive sentiment in lexicon and overall PTSD symptom severity. Overall PTSD symptom severity (CAPS total score) showed a (non-statistically significant) positive association with positive sentiment in lexicon. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 53, r = 0.27, p = 0.049.



Figure 7: Associations between positive sentiment in lexicon and re-experiencing. PTSD reexperiencing symptoms (CAPS B) showed a (non-statistically significant) positive association with positive sentiment. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 53, r = 0.31, p = 0.027.

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed a statistically non-significant positive association between both the rate of speech (r = 0.27, p = 0.049) and pause rate (r = 0.25, p = 0.073) with reexperiencing symptoms (Figures 8 and 9).



Figure 8: Associations between rate of speech and re-experiencing. PTSD re-experiencing symptoms (CAPS B) showed a (non-statistically significant) positive non-significant association with the rate of speech. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 53, r = 0.27, p = 0.049.



Figure 9: Associations between the pause rate and re-experiencing. PTSD re-experiencing symptoms (CAPS B) showed a (non-statistically significant) positive association with the pause rate. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 53, r = 0.25, p = 0.073.

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed a significant negative association between Formant 1 variance and hyperarousal (r = -.31, p = 0.024) (Figure 10). No other significant or trending results were found for any vocal acoustic variables (supplementary table 3).



Figure 10: Associations between Formant 1 variance and hyperarousal. PTSD hyperarousal symptoms (CAPS E) showed a significant negative association with Formant 1 variance. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 53, r = -.31, p = 0.024.

E. Associations between Facial and Vocal Expressivity

Bivariate correlation analysis revealed a significant positive association between overall facial expressivity and mean F0 (r = 0.32, p = 0.024) (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Associations between facial expressivity and mean F0. Overall facial expressivity showed a significant positive association with mean F0. Confidence intervals (95%) in light blue. N = 48, r = 0.32, p = 0.024.

IV. Discussion

A. Review of Study

The goal of this study was to examine potential associations between facial and vocal biomarkers of emotional expressivity and PTSD symptom severity. More specifically, we examined whether facial (anger, fear, happiness, and neutral) and vocal (F0, formants 1 and 2, rate of speech, etc.) biomarkers were associated with PTSD symptoms. I hypothesized that biomarkers of negative emotional expressivity including reduced overall facial movement, fear expressions, anger expressions, reduced formant variance, reduced F0 frequency, and increased negative sentiment in word use would be positively correlated with overall PTSD symptom severity. Additionally, I hypothesized that markers of positive emotional expressivity including happiness expression, increased formant variance, higher F0 frequency, and increased positive sentiment in word use would be negatively correlated with overall PTSD symptom severity. The results reveal meaningful candidate facial and vocal biomarkers of emotion that may be used in research and clinical settings.

B. Facial Emotional Expressivity

In line with hypothesis 1a, we found that general facial expressivity was negatively correlated with one cluster of negative/fear related symptoms in PTSD: re-experiencing symptoms. Since re-experiencing involve re-living of trauma during day-to-day life, it is possible that this reliving interrupts individuals' ability to identify and express emotions appropriately (Michael et al., 2005). Since their regular interactions and emotional responses may be interrupted by these memories, it may be harder for individuals with high re-experiencing symptoms to express their feelings. The only individual facial emotional expression that significantly correlated with PTSD symptoms was fear; greater fear expression correlated with higher overall symptom severity as well as avoidance and negative alterations in cognition and mood symptoms. In prior studies, this greater fear expression has been used to accurately predict PTSD diagnosis (Schultebraucks, 2022). It is suggested that there may be a unique alteration on fear expression caused by PTSD, though it was unclear whether this relationship was not actually because individuals with a different fear response were more susceptible to developing PTSD. Our results indicate that fear expression may be associated with PTSD symptom severity,

suggesting it is a symptom biomarker of PTSD. Thus, there may be alterations to the fear response as a result of PTSD in order to cause this abnormal expressivity of fear. Studies have shown associations of altered processing of threat and fear symptoms in PTSD (Zoellner, 2020). For example, in a prior study that included all Black participants, biased attention to threatening facial expressions depicted in White (but not Black) faces corresponded with PTSD symptoms, particularly hyperarousal, and this biased attention to threat corresponded with greater threat responses during a fear-potentiated startle paradigm (Fani et al., 2012). Other studies have found that this altered startle response is fairly unique to individuals with PTSD (Jovanovic, 2010). Thus, this altered fear response appears to manifest itself in the face, allowing fear expression to serve as a potential biomarker of PTSD. This finding supports mechanistic work which examines neurophysiological differences in fear for those who have PTSD (Shvil, 2013) since if it manifests in the face and startle response, there is likely a mechanism relating to the development of PTSD. Interventions targeting improvement of fear and anxiety in individuals with PTSD could potentially use facial fear expression as an external measure of intervention success. Thus, we found that some biomarkers of negative emotional expressivity were indeed associated with PTSD symptoms. We also demonstrate how certain symptoms of PTSD relate to specific biomarkers of negative emotions. However, we did not see any relationships of positive facial emotional expressivity with PTSD symptoms. This differs from prior work in which PTSD individuals report feeling fewer positive emotions (Elman et al., 2018). Indeed, some studies found an increase in negative emotion and decrease in happiness expression when manually examining facial behaviors during in-person clinical interviews (Kirsch & Brunnhuber, 2007). However, the remote nature of our interviews may be different contextually in which participants while in-person more actively express positive emotions due to its importance during social

interactions (Williams et al., 2018). In other words, since positive emotions are important during interactions with others, individuals with PTSD may be better at expressing positivity when they do not feel it due to experience with anhedonic symptoms. Lastly, neutral expressions were nonsignificantly reduced in individuals with higher overall PTSD symptom severity as well as in negative cognition and mood and hyperarousal. Further work with larger samples is necessary to determine if these findings are replicable. It may be that with increased expression of fear and possibly anger, there is a reduction in neutral expressions (Norrholm et al., 2015). Furthermore, this does align with work that did not find any sign of neutralization of emotional expression (Orsillo et al., 2004). It would seem that, in our sample, negative facial emotions may be more strongly impacted than positive emotions. These differential results between different emotions validates our approach in assessing multiple emotional domains rather than emotionality in general. Additionally, we found that although overall facial expressivity was reduced in those with higher re-experiencing symptoms, it was not due to a reduction in any specific emotion. This may mean that although there are fewer facial movements, it may be due to alterations across multiple emotion domains rather than one in particular. Furthermore, the specificity of fear may suggest a mechanistic impact of PTSD on fear expression (Shvil et al., 2013). This is especially relevant in the context of the CAPS, since it involves recalling recent thoughts or feelings related to the symptoms of PTSD, which may lead to heightened feelings of fear during the interview.

C. Vocal Emotional Expressivity

We additionally examined whether biomarkers of speech and vocal acoustics correlated with PTSD symptoms. Overall PTSD symptom severity and re-experiencing symptoms specifically showed a non-significant positive association with positively valanced sentiment, which did not support our hypothesis. It is possible that verbal expression of positive emotion may reflect a coping strategy in response to a high level of distress; these individuals may have learned to express positive emotion through their words even when they do not feel positive emotions. A study examining veterans with and without PTSD found that emotional suppression was more common in the PTSD population (Khan, 2021). Individuals thus may more consciously behave to prevent their negative emotions by selecting words with positive sentiment in order to consciously express positivity when they do not feel it. Our findings are in contrast with another study directly examining the produced speech of individuals with PTSD, which found decreased positive sentiment in the PTSD group compared to healthy controls (Sawalha, 2022). However, this study was performed with task-focused language rather than during clinical interviews, so the context may hold some different influence in the participants' word choice. In line with Hypothesis 1b, the pause rate was increased in those with higher reexperiencing symptoms. Some other studies have found that an increased pause rate during a simulated casual conversation with a virtual human was associated with PTSD symptom severity, which was suggested to relate to psychological distress (DeVault et al., 2013). The context in which participants discuss their symptoms resulting from PTSD may help contribute to this association between pause rate and PTSD severity. The rate of speech was also increased in those with higher re-experiencing symptoms. Prior studies have found slower rates of speech for those with more severe PTSD symptoms, including during the CAPS-5 interview (Fernandez-Lansac, 2015, Marmar, 2019). However, these studies did not examine symptom

clusters, but rather, correlation with a PTSD diagnosis made prior to intervention. Thus, this finding may be specific to the context and the symptom cluster of re-experiencing.

Lastly, Format 1 variance, which reflects the monotony of the voice, showed an inverse relationship with symptoms of hyperarousal. This suggests that individuals with more of these fear-related PTSD symptoms show more monotony in their voice (Scherer et al., 2015). This suggests a reduction in emotional expressivity since emotional expressivity has been connected to the variation in formant frequency (Khulage, 2012). In other words, participants with worse hyperarousal symptoms may be less tonally expressive. This may connect with our facial expressivity finding in which fear expression was increased. Other studies have suggested that individuals who experience PTSD may face a unique pattern of fear (Zoellner, 2020). Consequently, this pattern of fear expression is likely to manifest itself in facial and vocal behavior. Thus, these biomarkers of fear may serve as a useful biomarker of fear. Additionally, this further supports studies examining the neurologic abnormalities in fear-related brain regions since there is also a physical manifestation of fear for those with PTSD. Since a similar change to the first two formants has been connected to emotional stress, perhaps this marker of tone can be used as a measure for reactivity of participants to inform clinicians, perhaps to advise if a break or a different approach is needed. Regardless, vocal biomarkers showed some association with PTSD symptoms.

D. Correlations between Facial and Vocal Biomarkers

In analysis of how the biomarkers relate to one another, we found that individuals with greater anger expressions had increased overall facial expressivity. This matches prior work seeing increased negative emotions due to anger specifically in PTSD populations (Blechert et al., 2013). In addition, the fundamental frequency, which reflects the emotional state (Busso, 2009), was higher with greater facial expressivity. This aligns with the positive relationship established between emotional expression and F0 in which a higher F0 was associated with greater (namely positive) emotional expressivity (Busso et al., 2009). These relationships may suggest that a measure compiling multiple domains of expressivity may be useful to thoroughly analyze emotional expressivity in PTSD.

F. Limitations

Several important limitations of this study should be considered. Firstly, although AI provides a more objective lens as compared to human raters, AI algorithms have variable performance in clinical and non-clinical data samples, and thus study did not have a sufficient sample size to test performance (Thieme et al., 2020). It may be useful to include manual coding of randomly subjects to assess reliability of the algorithm. Additionally, clinician-assessed CAPS, as with every measure, holds some limitations. However, our results were consistent with the PCL-5, another measure of PTSD symptom subtypes and severity (supplementary table 2). Another limitation of this study is the limited sample size, which may affect power to detect statistically significant effects; further research with larger sample sizes is needed to replicate and extend this work. Furthermore, facial and vocal expressivity during live assessment of the CAPS involves discussion of trauma and its consequences. This is useful as it matches the context in which researchers and physicians may collect the data while performing their assessments. However, this context is very different from everyday interactions, which does seem to affect the emotionality and speech in PTSD populations in unique ways (van den Broek et al., 2010). To fully understand the impact of PTSD in facial and vocal expressivity, it is

important to evaluate across a variety of contexts and situations. Despite these limitations, we do demonstrate that PTSD symptom subtype and severity is associated with specific facial and vocal digital biomarkers.

G. Conclusions and Future Directions

We demonstrate that particular video-derived biomarkers of facial and vocal emotional expressivity corresponded with PTSD symptoms, particularly fear-related symptoms. Specifically, we found that biomarkers of fearful facial emotional expression, rate of speech, and pause rate were positively correlated with increased PTSD symptoms. We also found that overall facial expressivity and formant 1 variance were negatively correlated with PTSD symptoms. Given that greater expression of fear, as well as increased rate of speech and pause rate were linked to PTSD symptom severity, these features may be useful target biomarkers for future studies of acutely trauma-exposed populations (e.g., prospective studies that track these individuals over time) that may examine these factors as potential predictors of post-traumatic outcomes, including PTSD symptoms. These studies may examine which biomarkers are most useful predictors to responsiveness to certain treatments, potentially allowing individualized assignment to the treatment in which a patient would be most responsive to. Other clinical studies, particularly those using exposure-based methods (which target fear-based symptoms of PTSD) may wish to either examine change in these biomarkers over time and corresponding changes in clinical symptoms or as prognostic markers of treatment outcomes. Namely, studies may wish to examine the mechanistic reasons behind the observed altered fear expression. In studies examining fear attention, greater fear expressivity PTSD populations has been associated with biased fear attention towards perceived threats (Fani, 2012). Mechanistically, several cortex

regions such as the bilateral amygdalae, parahippocampal region, and the hippocampal region (Badura-Brack, 2017). However, future studies should examine these functional differences as they associate in real-time with facial expressions in order to elicit the mechanism of altered fear expression in PTSD. Furthermore, given the findings of reduced overall facial expressivity and greater monotony (reduced formant 1 variance), other studies may wish to examine these biomarkers with clinical assays of emotional numbing to assess their impact on social interactions of individuals with PTSD. Future studies may wish to examine whether improvement in these biomarkers may correlate with improvements in forming social bonds since one would expect that as emotional expressivity abnormalities are resolved, it may be easier for those with PTSD to socialize. Furthermore, these can potentially serve as biomarkers of responsiveness towards certain interventions requiring emotional openness. These biomarkers in general could allow another objective lens of examining PTSD severity and help target specific symptom clusters in interventions. Additionally, studies may wish to examine these potential biomarkers of emotional numbing with neuroimaging in order to deepen our understanding of the functional mechanisms behind these altered vocal expressions in PTSD populations.

Given the small sample size of our study, further investigation with a larger sample size is necessary to confidently assess PTSD symptoms through these biomarkers. This study used the open-source Python-based software OpenWillis, which helps pave the way to methods accessible to any researcher for biomarker analysis. Furthermore, interventions that do not just resolve selfreported symptoms, but also externally relevant variables, can be useful, namely because of how important emotionality is for social interactions (Beidel et al., 2019). Interventions that do not integration and social relationship forming of individuals suffering from PTSD. Future interventions may be able to examine how external emotionality influences the social networks and consequent life quality of those diagnosed with PTSD. Additionally, since we found several biomarkers of fear expression influenced by PTSD symptom severity in our findings, out findings support interventions that target re-experiencing symptoms. These interventions may be able to evaluate any changes in the fear-related expressivity in the face, which may be beneficial to measure the success of interventions as well as examining whether the fear emotional expression is altered alongside improvements in other clinical variables. This may also benefit participants in reducing the interruptions to their focus on engaging with certain interventions, thereby improving the efficacy of interventions as participants continue further with the studies. Further investigation may help determine the clinical value of these biomarkers for interpreting improvements in the emotional experience of those with PTSD. Furthermore, developing these methods may allow a combination of these different measures of emotionality in order to assess overall emotionality across face and voice and how it relates to PTSD. Since these methods assisted in exploring emotional variables in relation to PTSD, future work should explore other mental health variables, such as dissociation, as they relate to these biomarkers.

V. Supplemental Tables

	CAPS B (Re-	CAPS C	CAPS D	CAPS E	CAPS
	experiencing)	(Avoidance)	(Negative	(Hyperarousal)	Total
			cognition		
			and		
			mood)		
Mean Facial	335*	195	.076	121	137
Expressivity (N					
= 43)					
Log Anger (N =	027	.002	.162	.063	.090
43)					

Supplemental Table 1: Correlations table of Facial and Vocal Biomarkers with CAPS

Log Fear (N = 43)	.170	.348*	.327*	.172	.321*
Log Happiness $(N = 43)$.073	.124	.129	.022	.114
Log Neutral (N = 43)	174	071	288	286	291
Negative Sentiment (N = 53)	179	.028	145	113	157
Neutral Sentiment (N = 53)	158	110	105	203	180
Positive Sentiment (N = 53)	.310*	.079	.159	.195	.247
Rate of Speech $(N = 53)$.272*	.115	.104	.104	.188
Pause Rate (N = 53)	.248	.098	.089	.087	.165
Pause Mean Duration (N = 53)	125	.027	.033	.116	.015
Silence Ratio (N = 53)	078	.071	.044	.148	.052
F0 Mean (N = 53)	040	025	.078	.067	.041
F0 Variance (N $= 53$)	.016	021	017	.084	.018
Formant 1 Mean $(N = 53)$	072	.050	195	031	118
Formant 1 Variance (N = 53)	052	010	220	311*	216
Formant 2 Mean $(N = 53)$	002	143	073	087	085
Formant 2 Variance (N = 53)	.034	.149	.107	.030	.096

Supplemental Table 2: Correlations of Facial and Vocal Biomarkers with PCL-5

	PCL-5 Total	PCL-5 Cluster b (re- experiencing)	PCL-5 Cluster c (avoidance)	PCL-5 Cluster d (negative cognition and mood)	PCL-5 Cluster e (Hyperarousal)	PCL-5 Anhedonia
Mean Facial Expressivity (N = 48)	179	327*	264	074	030	069
Log Mean Anger (N = 48)	080	146	306*	032	.099	.089
Log Mean Fear	.178	.102	.016	.301*	.046	.247

Log Mean Happiness (N = 48)	030	.090	181	074	.045	.001
Log Mean Neutral (N = 48)	220	272	.045	270	073	231
Negative Vocal Sentiment (N = 59)	189	081	066	153	233	154
Neutral Vocal Sentiment (N = 59)	113	139	033	149	026	192
Positive Vocal Sentiment (N = 57)	.240	.262*	.060	.232	.163	.278*
Rate of speech $(N = 59)$	0.178	0.127	0.151	0.179	0.111	.319*
Pause rate	0.12	0.162	0.037	0.129	0.028	0.22
Mean duration pauses (N = 59)	-0.14	-0.194	-0.082	-0.087	-0.095	-0.19
Silence ratio	0.074	-0.006	0.131	0.024	0.134	-0.007
F0 mean (N = 59)	-0.029	0.042	0.046	-0.153	0.08	-0.219
F0 variation (N = 59)	0.099	.271*	-0.058	-0.035	0.125	-0.115
Form1 mean (N = 59)	0.013	0.02	0.167	-0.121	0.12	-0.154
Form1 variation (N = 59)	-0.145	-0.14	-0.104	-0.149	-0.086	-0.101
Form 2 mean $(N = 59)$	0.033	0.122	-0.48	-0.116	0.162	-0.082
Form 2 variation (N = 59)	0.178	0.15	0.166	0.118	0.152	0.051

Supplemental Table 3: Correlations Table between Facial and Vocal Biomarkers

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.
1. Facial Expressivity																	
2. Log Anger	.276																
3. Log Fear	.180	010															
4. Log Happiness	.255	009	.047														

5. Log Neutral	217	150	234	210													
6. Negative Sentiment	105	.009	.007	060	.031												
7. Neutral Sentiment	035	.001	067	178	.136	215											
8. Positive Sentiment	081	127	005	.217	291	201	899										
9. Rate of Speech	178	027	.121	.080	079	.118	057	.083									
10. Pause Rate	177	031	.098	.069	073	.163	081	.088	.996								
11. Pause Mean Duration	.125	.122	152	097	.120	177	159	.139	863	- .866*							
12. Silence Ratio	.095	.104	141	110	.101	204	186	.190	801	805	.981*						
13. F0 Mean	.324*	.164	187	.312*	219	044	010	089	085	091	.053	.014					
14. F0 Variance	.012	.065	.033	.231	312	.062	094	026	015	024	.017	.016	.667*				
15. Formant 1 Mean	135	100	.226	090	049	.008	.073	.003	084	088	.070	.127	430	017			
16. Formant 1 Variance	128	110	.022	.051	002	.055	.115	071	021	010	186	190	263	307	.245		
17. Formant 2 Mean	083	028	061	.042	225	.088	.114	.003	.200	.212	321	319	.015	.180	.272*	.471*	
 Formant Variance 	195	147	069	007	.135	.072	.192	205	094	077	021	031	033	020	007	.283*	.100

VI. Bibliography

Abbas, A., Hansen, B. J., Koesmahargyo, V., Yadav, V., Rosenfield, P. J., Patil, O., Dockendorf, M. F., Moyer, M., Shipley, L. A., & Perez-Rodriguez, M. M. (2022). Facial and vocal markers of schizophrenia measured using remote smartphone assessments: observational study. *JMIR Formative Research*, 6(1), e26276.

Badura-Brack, A. S., Heinrichs-Graham, E., McDermott, T. J., Becker, K. M., Ryan, T. J.,
 Khanna, M. M., & Wilson, T. W. (2017). Resting-State Neurophysiological Abnormalities
 in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: A Magnetoencephalography Study [Original Research].
 Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00205</u>

- Banerjee, D. (2017). Speech based machine learning models for emotional state recognition and ptsd detection Old Dominion University].
- Beidel, D. C., Frueh, B. C., Neer, S. M., Bowers, C. A., Trachik, B., Uhde, T. W., & Grubaugh,
 A. (2019). Trauma management therapy with virtual-reality augmented exposure therapy
 for combat-related PTSD: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, *61*, 64-74.
- Blechert, J., Michael, T., & Wilhelm, F. H. (2013). Video-Based Analysis of Bodily Startle and Subsequent Emotional Facial Expression in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, 4(4), 435-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.5127/jep.030712</u>
- Bozkurt, E., Erzin, E., Erdem, C. E., & Erdem, A. T. (2011). Formant position based weighted spectral features for emotion recognition.
- Bryant, R. A. (2016). Social attachments and traumatic stress. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 7(1), 29065. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.29065</u>
- Bujarski, S. J., Craig, J. T., Zielinski, M. J., Badour, C. L., & Feldner, M. T. (2015). A multimodal examination of emotional responding to a trauma-relevant film among traumatic motor vehicle accident survivors. *Assessment*, 22(2), 216-223.
- Busso, C., Lee, S., & Narayanan, S. (2009). Analysis of emotionally salient aspects of fundamental frequency for emotion detection. *IEEE transactions on audio, speech, and language processing*, 17(4), 582-596.

Colvonen, P. J., Glassman, L. H., Crocker, L. D., Buttner, M. M., Orff, H., Schiehser, D. M., Norman, S. B., & Afari, N. (2017). Pretreatment biomarkers predicting PTSD psychotherapy outcomes: a systematic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 75, 140-156.

D'Alfonso, S. (2020). AI in mental health. Current Opinion in Psychology, 36, 112-117.

- DeVault, D., Georgila, K., Artstein, R., Morbini, F., Traum, D., Scherer, S., Rizzo, A. A., & Morency, L.-P. (2013). Verbal indicators of psychological distress in interactive dialogue with a virtual human. Proceedings of the SIGDIAL 2013 Conference,
- DiMauro, J., Renshaw, K. D., & Kashdan, T. B. (2016). Beliefs in negative mood regulation and daily negative affect in PTSD. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 95, 34-36. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.02.030</u>
- Dyer, K. F. W., Dorahy, M. J., Hamilton, G., Corry, M., Shannon, M., MacSherry, A., McRobert, G., Elder, R., & McElhill, B. (2009). Anger, aggression, and self-harm in PTSD and complex PTSD. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65(10), 1099-1114.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20619
- Ehring, T., & Quack, D. (2010). Emotion Regulation Difficulties in Trauma Survivors: The Role of Trauma Type and PTSD Symptom Severity. *Behavior Therapy*, 41(4), 587-598. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2010.04.004</u>
- Elman, I., Upadhyay, J., Langleben, D. D., Albanese, M., Becerra, L., & Borsook, D. (2018).
 Reward and aversion processing in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder: functional neuroimaging with visual and thermal stimuli. *Translational psychiatry*, 8(1), 240.

- Erickson, D., Rilliard, A., Shochi, T., Han, J., Kawahara, H., & Sakakibara, K. (2008). A crosslinguistic comparison of perception to formant frequency cues in emotional speech. *COCOSDA, Kyoto, Japan*, 163-167.
- Ettore, E., Müller, P., Hinze, J., Riemenschneider, M., Benoit, M., Giordana, B., Postin, D.,
 Hurlemann, R., Lecomte, A., & Musiol, M. (2023). Digital phenotyping for differential
 diagnosis of major depressive episode: narrative review. *JMIR mental health*, 10, e37225.
- Fani, N., Guelfo, A., La Barrie, D. L., Teer, A. P., Clendinen, C., Karimzadeh, L., Jain, J., Ely, T.
 D., Powers, A., & Kaslow, N. J. (2023). Neurophysiological changes associated with vibroacoustically-augmented breath-focused mindfulness for dissociation: targeting interoception and attention. *Psychological Medicine*, 1-11.
- Fani, N., Tone, E. B., Phifer, J., Norrholm, S. D., Bradley, B., Ressler, K. J., Kamkwalala, A., & Jovanovic, T. (2012). Attention bias toward threat is associated with exaggerated fear expression and impaired extinction in PTSD. *Psychological Medicine*, 42(3), 533-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291711001565</u>
- Farnsworth, J. K., & Sewell, K. W. (2011). Fear of emotion as a moderator between PTSD and firefighter social interactions. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 24(4), 444-450. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20657
- Fernandez-Lansac, V., & Crespo, M. (2015). Narrative length and speech rate in battered women. *PloS one*, *10*(11), e0142651.
- Frewen, P. A., Dozois, D. J. A., Neufeld, R. W. J., & Lanius, R. A. (2012). Disturbances of emotional awareness and expression in posttraumatic stress disorder: Meta-mood, emotion regulation, mindfulness, and interference of emotional expressiveness.

Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 4(2), 152-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023114</u>

- Frewen, P. A., Lanius, R. A., Dozois, D. J. A., Neufeld, R. W. J., Pain, C., Hopper, J. W., Densmore, M., & Stevens, T. K. (2008). Clinical and neural correlates of alexithymia in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *117*(1), 171-181. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.117.1.171
- FREWEN, P. A., PAIN, C., DOZOIS, D. J. A., & LANIUS, R. A. (2006). Alexithymia in PTSD. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1071(1), 397-400. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1364.029</u>
- Frueh, B. C., Hamner, M. B., Cahill, S. P., Gold, P. B., & Hamlin, K. L. (2000). Apparent symptom overreporting in combat veterans evaluated for ptsd. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 20(7), 853-885. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(99)00015-X</u>
- Fujiwara, T., Mizuki, R., Miki, T., & Chemtob, C. (2015). Association between facial expression and PTSD symptoms among young children exposed to the Great East Japan Earthquake: a pilot study [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01534

- Galatzer-Levy, I., Abbas, A., Ries, A., Homan, S., Sels, L., Koesmahargyo, V., Yadav, V., Colla,
 M., Scheerer, H., & Vetter, S. (2021). Validation of visual and auditory digital markers of suicidality in acutely suicidal psychiatric inpatients: proof-of-concept study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 23(6), e25199.
- Gavrilescu, M., & Vizireanu, N. (2019). Predicting depression, anxiety, and stress levels from videos using the facial action coding system. *Sensors*, *19*(17), 3693.

- Gluck, R. L., Hartzell, G. E., Dixon, H. D., Michopoulos, V., Powers, A., Stevens, J. S., Fani, N., Carter, S., Schwartz, A. C., & Jovanovic, T. (2021). Trauma exposure and stress-related disorders in a large, urban, predominantly African-American, female sample. *Archives of women's mental health*, 24, 893-901.
- Halligan, S. L., Michael, T., Wilhelm, F. H., Clark, D. M., & Ehlers, A. (2006). Reduced heart rate responding to trauma reliving in trauma survivors with PTSD: Correlates and consequences. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *19*(5), 721-734.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20167
- He, Q., Veldkamp, B. P., & de Vries, T. (2012). Screening for posttraumatic stress disorder using verbal features in self narratives: A text mining approach. *Psychiatry research*, *198*, 441-447.
- Jeffirs, S. M., Petri, J. M., Camden, A. A., Jackson, B. N., & Weathers, F. W. (2023).
 Psychometric evaluation of the multiscale dissociation inventory (MDI): A replication and extension in two trauma-exposed samples. *European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 7(2), 100324.
- Jovanovic, T., Norrholm, S. D., Blanding, N. Q., Davis, M., Duncan, E., Bradley, B., & Ressler,
 K. J. (2010). Impaired fear inhibition is a biomarker of PTSD but not depression.
 Depression and anxiety, 27(3), 244-251.
- Kashdan, T. B., Elhai, J. D., & Frueh, B. C. (2006). Anhedonia and emotional numbing in combat veterans with PTSD. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 44(3), 457-467. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.03.001</u>
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity

Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 62(6), 617-627.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.617

- Khulage, A. A. (2012, 19-20 Oct. 2012). Extraction of pitch, duration and formant frequencies for emotion recognition system. Fourth International Conference on Advances in Recent Technologies in Communication and Computing (ARTCom2012),
- Kim, J. C., & Clements, M. A. (2015, 9-11 July 2015). Formant-based feature extraction for emotion classification from speech. 2015 38th International Conference on Telecommunications and Signal Processing (TSP),
- Kirsch, A., & Brunnhuber, S. (2007). Facial Expression and Experience of Emotions in Psychodynamic Interviews with Patients with PTSD in Comparison to Healthy Subjects. *Psychopathology*, 40(5), 296-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000104779</u>
- Lang, A. J. (2017). Mindfulness in PTSD treatment. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *14*, 40-43. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.10.005
- Liberzon, I., & Martis, B. (2006). Neuroimaging Studies of Emotional Responses in PTSD. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1071(1), 87-109. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1364.009</u>
- Littrell, J. (2009). Expression of emotion: When it causes trauma and when it helps. *Journal of evidence-based social work*, *6*(3), 300-320.
- Litz, B. T., Litz, B. T., & Gray, M. J. (2002). Emotional Numbing in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Current and Future Research Directions. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 36(2), 198-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1614.2002.01002.x</u>

Luxton, D. D. (2015). Artificial intelligence in behavioral and mental health care.

- Marmar, C. R., Brown, A. D., Qian, M., Laska, E., Siegel, C., Li, M., Abu-Amara, D., Tsiartas,
 A., Richey, C., Smith, J., Knoth, B., & Vergyri, D. (2019). Speech-based markers for
 posttraumatic stress disorder in US veterans. *Depression and anxiety*, 36(7), 607-616.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22890
- McLean, C. P., Levy, H. C., Miller, M. L., & Tolin, D. F. (2022). Exposure therapy for PTSD: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 91, 102115. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102115
- Messman, B. A., Jin, L., Slavish, D. C., Alghraibeh, A. M., Aljomaa, S. S., & Contractor, A. A. (2023). The role of positive affect processes in the association between posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms and sleep: A multi-study design. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 324, 511-520.
- Michael, T., Ehlers, A., Halligan, S. L., & Clark, D. M. (2005). Unwanted memories of assault: what intrusion characteristics are associated with PTSD? *Behaviour research and therapy*, 43(5), 613-628. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2004.04.006</u>
- Michopoulos, V., Norrholm, S. D., & Jovanovic, T. (2015). Diagnostic Biomarkers for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Promising Horizons from Translational Neuroscience Research. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78(5), 344-353. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.01.005

Monti, E., D'Andrea, W., Freed, S., Kidd, D. C., Feuer, S., Carroll, L. M., & Castano, E. (2021).
 Does Self-Reported Childhood Trauma Relate to Vocal Acoustic Measures? Preliminary
 Findings at Trauma Recall. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 45(3), 389-408.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-020-00355-x

- Mundt, J. C., Vogel, A. P., Feltner, D. E., & Lenderking, W. R. (2012). Vocal acoustic biomarkers of depression severity and treatment response. *Biol Psychiatry*, 72(7), 580-587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.03.015</u>
- Nightingale, J., & Williams, R. M. (2000). Attitudes to emotional expression and personality in predicting post-traumatic stress disorder. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 39(3), 243-254. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1348/014466500163266</u>
- Norrholm, S. D., Glover, E. M., Stevens, J. S., Fani, N., Galatzer-Levy, I. R., Bradley, B., Ressler, K. J., & Jovanovic, T. (2015). Fear load: the psychophysiological overexpression of fear as an intermediate phenotype associated with trauma reactions. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 98(2), 270-275.
- O'Bryan, E. M., McLeish, A. C., Kraemer, K. M., & Fleming, J. B. (2015). Emotion regulation difficulties and posttraumatic stress disorder symptom cluster severity among traumaexposed college students. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 7(2), 131-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037764</u>
- Orsillo, S. M., Batten, S. V., Plumb, J. C., Luterek, J. A., & Roessner, B. M. (2004). An Experimental Study of Emotional Responding in Women With Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Related to Interpersonal Violence. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 17(3), 241-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOTS.0000029267.61240.94</u>
- Othmani, A., Brahem, B., & Haddou, Y. (2023). Machine Learning-based Approaches for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Diagnosis using Video and EEG Sensors: A Review. *IEEE Sensors Journal*.

- Passardi, S., Peyk, P., Rufer, M., Wingenbach, T. S., & Pfaltz, M. C. (2019). Facial mimicry, facial emotion recognition and alexithymia in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour research and therapy*, *122*, 103436.
- Peham, D., Bock, A., Schiestl, C., Huber, E., Zimmermann, J., Kratzer, D., Dahlbender, R., Biebl, W., & Benecke, C. (2015). Facial affective behavior in mental disorder. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 39, 371-396.
- Pfeffer, C. C. (2023). Facial Expressions as Predictors of Long-Term Outcomes Following a Traumatic Event: Comparing Automated and Manual Coding Systems Columbia University].
- Probst, L., & Braun, A. (2019). The effects of emotional state on fundamental frequency. Proceedings of the 19th International Congress of Phonetic Sciences, Melbourne, Australia,
- Protopapas, A., & Lieberman, P. (1997). Fundamental frequency of phonation and perceived emotional stress. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *101*(4), 2267-2277.
- Pugach, C. P., Campbell, A. A., & Wisco, B. E. (2020). Emotion regulation in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): Rumination accounts for the association between emotion regulation difficulties and PTSD severity. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 76(3), 508-525. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22879</u>
- Rauch, S. A., Eftekhari, A., & Ruzek, J. I. (2012). Review of exposure therapy: a gold standard for PTSD treatment. *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 49(5), 679-687.
- Rebordao, A. R. F., Shaikh, M. A. M., Hirose, K., & Minematsu, N. (2009). How to improve TTS systems for emotional expressivity. Tenth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association,

- Sawalha, J., Yousefnezhad, M., Shah, Z., Brown, M. R. G., Greenshaw, A. J., & Greiner, R. (2022). Detecting Presence of PTSD Using Sentiment Analysis From Text Data [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.811392</u>
- Scherer, S., Morency, L. P., Gratch, J., & Pestian, J. (2015, 19-24 April 2015). Reduced vowel space is a robust indicator of psychological distress: A cross-corpus analysis. 2015 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP),
- Schultebraucks, K., Yadav, V., Shalev, A. Y., Bonanno, G. A., & Galatzer-Levy, I. R. (2022).
 Deep learning-based classification of posttraumatic stress disorder and depression following trauma utilizing visual and auditory markers of arousal and mood.
 Psychological Medicine, 52(5), 957-967.
- Seligowski, A. V., Miron, L. R., & Orcutt, H. K. (2015). Relations Among Self-Compassion,
 PTSD Symptoms, and Psychological Health in a Trauma-Exposed Sample. *Mindfulness*,
 6(5), 1033-1041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0351-x</u>
- Shepherd, L., & Wild, J. (2014). Emotion regulation, physiological arousal and PTSD symptoms in trauma-exposed individuals. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 45(3), 360-367. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2014.03.002</u>
- Sheynin, J., Shind, C., Radell, M., Ebanks-Williams, Y., Gilbertson, M. W., Beck, K. D., & Myers, C. E. (2017). Greater avoidance behavior in individuals with posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms. *Stress*, 20(3), 285-293.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890.2017.1309523

Shvil, E., Rusch, H. L., Sullivan, G. M., & Neria, Y. (2013). Neural, psychophysiological, and behavioral markers of fear processing in PTSD: a review of the literature. *Current psychiatry reports*, 15, 1-10.

- Slanbekova, G. K., Chung, M. C., Karipbaev, B. I., Sabirova, R. S., & Alimbayeva, R. T. (2019). Posttraumatic Stress and Interpersonal Sensitivity: Alexithymia as Mediator and Emotional Expressivity as Moderator. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 90(1), 249-261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-018-9612-5
- Southee, R. (2020). Language in Trauma: A Pilot Study of Pause Frequency as a Predictor of Cognitive Change Due to Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Arizona State University].
- Stauffer, C. S., Meinzer, N. K., Morrison, T., Wen, J. H., Radanovich, L., Leung, D., Niles, A., O'Donovan, A., Batki, S. L., & Woolley, J. D. (2019). Effects of oxytocin administration on cue-induced craving in co-occurring alcohol use disorder and PTSD: A withinparticipant randomized clinical trial. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *43*(12), 2627-2636.
- Taigman, Y., Yang, M., Ranzato, M. A., & Wolf, L. (2014). Deepface: Closing the gap to humanlevel performance in face verification. Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition,
- Thaman, B., Cao, T., & Caporusso, N. (2022, 23-27 May 2022). Face Mask Detection using MediaPipe Facemesh. 2022 45th Jubilee International Convention on Information, Communication and Electronic Technology (MIPRO),
- Thieme, A., Belgrave, D., & Doherty, G. (2020). Machine learning in mental health: A systematic review of the HCI literature to support the development of effective and implementable ML systems. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI), 27(5), 1-53.

- Trachik, B., Bowers, C., Neer, S. M., Nguyen, V., Frueh, B. C., & Beidel, D. C. (2018). Combatrelated guilt and the mechanisms of exposure therapy. *Behaviour research and therapy*, *102*, 68-77. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2017.11.006</u>
- Tull, M. T., Jakupcak, M., Paulson, A., & Gratz, K. L. (2007). The role of emotional inexpressivity and experiential avoidance in the relationship between posttraumatic stress disorder symptom severity and aggressive behavior among men exposed to interpersonal violence. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 20*(4), 337-351.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10615800701379249
- Tull, M. T., Vidaña, A. G., & Betts, J. E. (2020). Emotion regulation difficulties in PTSD. In Emotion in posttraumatic stress disorder (pp. 295-310). Elsevier.
- van 't Wout, M., Spofford, C. M., Unger, W. S., Sevin, E. B., & Shea, M. T. (2017). Skin
 Conductance Reactivity to Standardized Virtual Reality Combat Scenes in Veterans with
 PTSD. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback*, 42(3), 209-221.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-017-9366-0
- Wagner, A. W., Roemer, L., Orsillo, S. M., & Litz, B. T. (2003). Emotional experiencing in women with posttraumatic stress disorder: Congruence between facial expressivity and self-report. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *16*(1), 67-75. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022015528894</u>

Wani, M. A., ELAffendi, M. A., Shakil, K. A., Imran, A. S., & El-Latif, A. A. A. (2023).
Depression Screening in Humans With AI and Deep Learning Techniques. *IEEE Transactions on Computational Social Systems*, *10*(4), 2074-2089.
https://doi.org/10.1109/TCSS.2022.3200213

- Weathers, F., Blake, D., Schnurr, P., Kaloupek, D., Marx, B., & Keane, T. (2013). The life events checklist for DSM-5 (LEC-5). Instrument available from the National Center for PTSD. *Retrieved September*, 6, 2021.
- Weathers, F. W., Bovin, M. J., Lee, D. J., Sloan, D. M., Schnurr, P. P., Kaloupek, D. G., Keane, T. M., & Marx, B. P. (2018). The Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale for DSM–5 (CAPS-5): Development and initial psychometric evaluation in military veterans. *Psychological assessment*, 30(3), 383.
- Weiss, N. H., Contractor, A. A., Forkus, S. R., Goncharenko, S., & Raudales, A. M. (2020).
 Positive emotion dysregulation among community individuals: the role of trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *33*(5), 741-749.
- Williams, C. L., Milanak, M. E., Judah, M. R., & Berenbaum, H. (2018). The association between PTSD and facial affect recognition. *Psychiatry research*, 265, 298-302.
- Williamson, M. L. C., Stickley, M. M., Armstrong, T. W., Jackson, K., & Console, K. (2022).
 Diagnostic accuracy of the Primary Care PTSD Screen for DSM-5 (PC-PTSD-5) within a civilian primary care sample. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 78(11), 2299-2308.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.23405
- Wu, Y., Mao, K., Dennett, L., Zhang, Y., & Chen, J. (2023). Systematic review of machine learning in PTSD studies for automated diagnosis evaluation. *npj Mental Health Research*, 2(1), 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44184-023-00035-w</u>
- Xu, R., Mei, G., Zhang, G., Gao, P., Judkins, T., Cannizzaro, M., & Li, J. (2012). A voice-based automated system for PTSD screening and monitoring. *Studies in health technology and informatics*, 173, 552-558.

- Zlotnick, C., Mattia, J. I., & Zimmerman, M. (2001). The Relationship Between Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, Childhood Trauma and Alexithymia in an Outpatient Sample. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 14(1), 177-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007899918410</u>
- Zoellner, L. A., Goodwin, M. L., & Foa, E. B. (2000). PTSD severity and health perceptions in female victims of sexual assault. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *13*(4), 635-649.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007810200460